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Above: On February 16, 1943, the Red Army re-entered decks drive past the central block of the Gosprom complex.
Kharkov. Here, T-34/76D tanks with infantry riding on the (Novosti) Below: A perfect comparison 58 years later.
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Looking the other way down the great
snow-covered expanse of Dzerzhinsky
Square. The T-34s probably belonged to
the 15th Tank Corps and the infantry to
the 160th Rifle Division, both units of 3rd
Tank Army. (Novosti)

Meanwhile, the Russians continued their
envelopment of the city. In 40th Army’s sec-
tor on the 14th, the 183rd Rifle Division
seized Sokolniki on the northern outskirts
and, by evening, had penetrated the city
proper. The 340th Rifle Division with parts
of the 25th Guards Rifle Division and
armour support entered the north-western
suburbs. The army’s main force — 5Sth
Guards Tank Corps, the 305th Rifle Division
and 6th Guards Motorised Rifle Brigade —
sliced southwards west of the city, cutting the
railway and main road at Lyubotin. Coupled
with 3rd Tank Army’s advance to Osnovo,
this left the Germans with only a narrow six-
mile-wide corridor into and out of the city.
Cooped up inside Kharkov’s perimeter were
the ‘Grossdeutschland’ (of Korps Raus),
defending the western approaches; ‘Das
Reich’ (minus one regiment) defending the The square was renamed Ploshchad Svobody (Freedom Square) after the war but
northern suburbs; one reinforced panzer- when the Ukraine gained independence in 1991 it got a new name: Ploshchad
grenadier regiment of the ‘Leibstandarte Nezavisimosti (Independence Square).
defending the castern suburbs; and the 320.
Infanterie-Division holding the south-east-
ern sector.

In the afternoon of the 14th, Hausser, the
SS-Panzerkorps  commander, received
reports of armed civilians firing at his troops
in Kharkov. Already faced with certain
encirclement and now fearing a civilian
uprising, at 1620 hours he notified Armee-
Abteilung Lanz that unless Lanz would issue
an order to abandon the city before 1630, he
— Hausser — would do so himself. At 1645,
not having heard [rom Lanz, Hausser gave
the order to evacuate the city that night.
Lanz reacted immediately: at 1725 he
radioed Hausser that he was to obey the
Fiihrer’s order and rescind his withdrawal
orders. At 1800, he verbally repeated this to
Hausser on the phone. Thus twice reminded
of Hitler’s order, Hausser changed his mind
and at 2130 reported that he was determined
‘to hold Kharkov to the last man’.

g

Right: Lieutenant-General P. Rybalko
(second from right), commander of the
3rd Tank Army, in Kharkov. (Novosti)
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A column of T-34s rolls up Sv
of Kharkov to continue their
armies of Voronezh Front wo

erdlov Street to the western exit Kharkov,
winter offensive. However, the
uld soon grind to a halt west of

only to be hit full in the left flank by the swift and

devastating counter-attack mad

e by the SS-Panzerkorps the
following month. {(Novosti)




Above: Looking the other way, back toward the city centre.
These T-34s could belong to the 5th Guards Tank Corps of the
40th Army; the 15th Tank Corps of the 3rd Tank Army; the
137th Tank Brigade or the 292nd Tank Regiment of the 69th

The next morning, February 15, Hitler set
holding Kharkov as Lanz’s sole mission, but
it was too late. At dawn, the Soviets opened
their final assault on the city. In 40th Army’s
sector the 340th Rifle Division and 5th
Guards Tank Corps penetrated into western
Kharkov. Heavy snow in the dense woods on
the outskirts held up the tanks, but the
infantry carried on. By noon, the German
corridor out of the city to the south-west had
shrunk to a width of little more than a mile
and a hall, and elements of “Das Reich’,
against orders, had pulled out of the north-
ern suburbs, The 69th Army advanced and
occupied the positions vacated by the
Germans. In 3rd Tank Army’s sector the
15th Tank Corps and 160th Rifle Division
entered eastern Kharkov, engaging in heavy
street fighting with the SS panzergrenadiers.

Not wishing to be trapped in the city. in

spite of Hitler's renewed directive, and dis-
obeying Manstein’s and Lanz’s direct orders
to hold on, at 1300 on the 15th Hausser
ordered his divisions to pull out of Kharkov
and withdraw through the corridor south-
west to the Uda river.

On the morning of the 16th, 40th Army’s
25th Rifle Division and one motorised rifle
brigade of the 5th Guards Tank Corps
advanced into the city from the west and the
183rd Rifle Division came in from the north-
west. Meanwhile, the 62nd Guards Rifle
Division (3rd Tank Army) penetrated the
south-western part of the city. At 1000 hours,
the 15th Tank Corps and 160th Rifle Divi-
sion (3rd Tank Army) linked up with the
183rd Rifle Division (40th Army) on
Dzerzhinsky Square. At the same time, other
3rd Tank Army spearheads met the 5th
Guards Tanks Corps (40th Army) on

Army; or even to the follow-up 2nd Tank Corps — all of which
took part in the recapture of Kharkov in February 1943.
(Novosti) Below: The junction of Sverdlov Street with Elizarov
and Narimanov Streets today.

Sverdlov Street. By noon on February 16,
Kharkov was back in Soviet hands.

Losing Kharkov which, like Stalingrad,
had become a symbol was a blow to Hitler’s
prestige. Hausser’s order to pull out of
Kharkov, although a sound military decision,
had clearly been in disobedience of a
Fiihrer’s order. But Hitler was unwilling to
punish or reprimand a commanding general
of his favourite elite corps, the Waffen-SS.
Manstein and Lanz had both shared
Hausser’s view that Kharkov was untenable
but neither had dared to go against Hitler’s
order. In secret they probably approved
Hausser’s action, and both advised against
him being relieved from command or the
taking of other disciplinary action. Yet a
scapegoat had to be found. On February 20,
Hitler relieved Lanz and replaced him with
General der Panzertruppen Werner Kempf.




THE THIRD BATTLE (MARCH 1943)

The third battle of Kharkov followed
immediately on the second. After the SS-
Panzerkorps extracted itself from the city, it
reassembled around Krasnograd, 40 miles to
the south-west. However, the Soviet offen-
sive was still on and a giant 110-mile gap still
existed between Armee-Abteilung Kempf in
the north and the rest of Heeresgruppe Siid
in the south. Through this gap the Soviet 6th
and Ist Guards Armies and Mobile Group
Popov were still streaming south-westward
toward the Dnieper. Soviet intelligence esti-
mated, and Soviet commanders believed,
that the Germans would now withdraw to
that river on a broad front.

On February 17, Hitler and his Wolfs-
schanze retinue arrived for a three-day visit
to  Manstein’s army group HQ at
Zaporozhye on the Dnieper. At a conference
next day (with Soviet tanks only 36 miles to
the east and no German troops in between),
Manstein convinced Hitler that the first pri-
ority was not to recapture Kharkov but to
close the huge gap between Armee-
Abteilung Kempf and 1. Panzer-Armee.

For that mission Manstein decided to
insert Hoth’s 4. Panzer-Armee, freshly with-
drawn from the Caucasus, north of 1. Panzer-
Armee. Hoth's first task would be to halt the
two Russian armies heading for the Dnieper
crossings at Dnepropetrovsk and throw them
back across the Samara river. To carry out
this assignment Hoth was given Hausser’s
SS-Panzerkorps with the SS-Divisions ‘Das
Reich’ and the newly-arrived ‘Totenkopf®
(the "Leibstandarte’ would remain under
Kempf’s command) and XXXXVIII. Pan-
zerkorps with 6. and 17 Panzer-Divisions
(from Armee-Abteilung Hollidt). While
Hoth stopped the Russians in front of Dne-
propetrovsk, von Mackensen’s 1. Panzer-
Armee was to attack and eliminate Mobile
Group Popov.

Hausser’s SS-Panzerkorps began the
counter-offensive on February 19. While the
“Leibstandarte’ held a firm base around
Krasnograd, ‘Das Reich® started a rapid
thrust due south across the snowy plains to
chop off the spearheads of 6th and 1st
Guards Armies. On the second day, having
advanced 50 miles, the division crossed the
Samara and took Novo-Moskovs, cutting
mto the flank of 6th Army (Lieutenant-Gen-
eral F. M. Kharitonov); the next day, turning
east. it advanced another 25 miles and
pushed into Pavlograd. By these swift blows
it eliminated the threat to the Dnieper cross-
s and trapped a large number of Soviet
s south of the Samara. In the following
two days. February 22-23, the division
icstroved some of them and drove the rest
th across the Samara.

Manstein’s offensive closed the wide
gap in the front of his Heeresgruppe Siid.

(&3]

Left: The SS-Panzerkorps fighting its
way back to Kharkov. Infantry and tanks
of the ‘Leibstandarte-SS Adolf Hitler’
fight their way through a burning village
on the road to Kharkov on March 10. The
tanks are from |l. Bataillon of SS-Panzer-
Regiment 1, the PzKpfw Il at the rear —
‘657° — belonging to its 5. Kompanie.
Two SS-Kriegsberichter — Johan King
and PK Cantzler — accompanied the
‘Leibstandarte’ during its operations in
February-March 1943. This is one of
King’s exposures. (BA) Below: The
village has previously been named as
Dergatchi, north-west of Kharkov, and
indeed from the sequence of photo-
graphs on King'’s film it can be deduced
that the village in the picture must lie
somewhere just north or north-west of
Kharkov, probably on the Belgorod road.
Although the farmsteads have changed,
this is the only hamlet with a similar
bend in the road.
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Motor cycle troops of SS-Aufklarungs-Abteilung 1, the ‘Leib-  Again, the bend in

standarte”s reconnaissance unit, in the same village. (BA)

Meanwhile, on the 22nd, the SS-Panzer-
korps had committed the “Totenkopf’. The
division advanced on a parallel course left of
‘Das Reich’ but stayed north of the Samara,
wheeling east on the 231d too. By next day,
both divisions had made another left turn
and were advancing northward side by side,
crushing the Soviet units in their path. East
of Pavlograd the 6. and 17. Panzer-Divisions
of XXXXVIIIL. Panzerkorps (General der
Panzertruppen Otto von Knobelsdorff)
moved in and began to push north alongside
the SS-Panzerkorps, cutting the Russian
supply lines.

As these battles were taking place, von
Mackensen of 1. Panzer-Armee further cast
had attacked Mobile Group Popov, launch-
ing his XL. Panzerkorps (7 and 11. Panzer-
Divisions, $S-Division ‘Wiking" and 333.
Infanterie-Division) in a wide pincer move-
ment around it from the east. By February
24, the pocket had been closed and many of
Popov’s units trapped inside decimated,
although a sizable number of tanks and
troops had managed to escape north to
Barvenkovo.

Elated by the initial success of his counter-
offensive against South-Western Front,
Manstein on February 25 directed his two
panzer armies to strike north in preparation
of an attack into the south flank of Voronezh
Front. Mackensen’s 1. Panzer-Armee on the
right was to capture Petrovskoye and [zyum
to climinate the Red Army’s Donetz cross-
ings, and Hoth’s 4. Panzer-Armee on the left
was to advance north-east to Lozovaya in
anticipation of a thrust north along the rail-
way to Kharkov.

On February 26, ‘Das Reich’ took Lozo-
vaya after heavy street fighting. ‘“Totenkopl’
drew level on its left. Two days later, 17. Pan-
zer-Division took Petrovskoye on the
Donetz. All these actions left units of 1st
Guards Army badly mauled. Further east,
XL. Panzerkorps of 1. Panzer-Armee met
other units of the 1st Guards Army and the
remnants of Mobile Group Popov — with
less than 100 tanks between them, most of
them immobilised for lack of fuel — near
Barvenkovo. Forced to make a final stand,
the Russian forces were cut to pieces.

On February 28, Manstein ordered Hoth
to begin the push toward Kharkov and von
Mackensen to drive to the Donetz in the area
east of Petrovskoye. Time was running short
as daytime thaw had set in. Already the melt-
ing snow was making the roads soft and
muddy. and in a few days’ time they would
become completely impassable.

In spite of the thaw, both armies made
amazingly rapid progress. Starting on March
1, Hoth’s 4. Panzer-Armee covered 50 miles
in five days, reaching the Mosh river, ten
miles south of Kharkov, on the 5th. Over
most of the distance it was opposed only by

elements of the battered 1st Guards Army.
but east of Krasnograd the SS-Panzerkorps
— linking up with the ‘Leibstandarte’ on
March 4 — trapped three rifle divisions
(11th, 184th and 219th) and three tank
brigades (52nd, 88th and 113th) of Rybalko’s
3rd Tank Army, which the Stavka had
ordered Lo counter-attack southward on the

the road and the slope are the only indica-

tions that confirm the comparison.

28th. The following day. ‘Totenkopt® liqui-
dated this pocket. Next day. March 6. the
‘Leibstandarte” gained a first bridgehead
across the Mosh at Bridok. Further east, 1.
Panzer-Armee had by then closed on the
Donetz along its entire line, leaving the Rus-
sians only small bridgeheads in the sharper
bends of the still-frozen river.
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German situation map showing the three SS divisions coming abreast of Kharkow
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At 1215 on March 10, the point of SS-Aufklérungs-Abteilung 1
(Kampfgruppe Mevyer) reached the northern entry of Kharkov,
where it halted to await orders. Kriegsberichter King pictured
the unit's Schwimmwagens stationary on the Belgorod main
road, with the first buildings of Kharkov visible in the distance.

Shortly after, instead of entering the city, the unit would
receive orders to carry on a few miles further east, to the next
main road into Kharkov, the one from Volchansk. From there,
Meyer was to launch his assault into the city on the morrow.
The Belgorod road was assigned to Kampfgruppe Witt. (NIOD)

Manstein and Hoth now had to decide
whether or not Lo continue to Kharkov af the
risk of being halted by the thaw. As it
2ppeared that the Russians were not going Lo
offer much resistance north of the Mosh and
zs the weather turned colder again on March
7. they decided to carry on. However, in
order not to lose contact with Armee-
Abteilung Kempf, they decided to strike
west of Kharkov instead of to the east of jt.
Their plan was to have the SS-Panzerkorps
sever the Russian communication lines
tarough Kharkov on the west and then
sweep round the city from the north, thus
encircling it.

Again. the advance went astonishingly
well On March 8, Hausser's SS—Panzerkorps
broke away from the Mosh river on a broad
front between Walki and Merefa. Advancin
@ line abreast were (from west to east%
3 cnkopf’. ‘Leibstandarte’ and ‘Das
Re=ich’. with Division *‘Grossdeutschland” of
“Armee-Abteilung Kempf moving alongside
cir left. On March 9, the three SS divi-
as drew level with the western outskirts of
EEzrkov. Opposing them stood three Soviet
s: Kazakov’s 69th Army north of the
=i, Moskalenko’s 40th Army south of it,
==d Rybalko’s 3rd Tank Army defending the
iself. Waiting inside Kharkov proper
the 1st and 2nd Guards Tank Corps and
th. 104th. 305th, and 307th Rifle Divi-

subsequent orders on this point were
ambiguous. At 1215 on the 9th. 4. Panzer-
Armee radioed the SS-Panzerkorps: ‘I at all
possible, Kharkov is to be taken by a rapid
stroke”. Realising this was a change from pre-
vious orders, Hausser asked for clarification.
However, without waiting for a reply, at 1730
he also issued orders for a surprise assault on
the city to commence next day: ‘Das Reich’
was Lo come in from the west and the ‘Leib-
standarte’ from the north, while ‘Totenkopf®
was to form a protective screen to the north
and north-west,

Hoth immediately ordered Hausser to
stick to the original plan, warning against a
frontal assault against the city which would
tie down tanks and troops in costly street
fighting. Hausser’s COIps was to continue its
northern envelopment of the city. However,
Hoth’s order to Hausser sent at 1920 again
included a passage that left room for inter-
pretation: “The situation inside the city is to
be reconnoitred. Possibilities for taking pos-
session of the city in a rapid stroke are to be
exploited’. This was all that Hausser needed
to continue his preparations for a penetra-
tion of the city.

Although Hausser had his mind set on the
assault, Soviet opposition and traffic con-
ditions forced him to delay it by one day.
‘Das Reich’ necded it to manoeuvre inio
attack positions just west of the city. The
‘Leibstandarte’ needed all of March 10 to
fight through the town of Dergatchi north-
west of Kharkov and obtain jumping-off
positions along the northern edge of the city.

At 1900 that evening, an order from
Manstein repeated the mstruction to out-
flank Kharkov to the north, but again left
room for interpretation by adding: “If enemy

resistance dwindles, Kharkov is to be taken'.
Another order from Hoth sent at 2230 also
specified that an attack on Kharkov was to
come in from the east (i.e. after completion
of the encirclement). Hausser choose to dis-
regard these orders and to proceed with his
own plan of attack.

At 0400 on March 11, the ‘Leibstandarte’
(SS-Obergruppenfiihrer Sepp Dietrich)
launched two regimental groups in four
assault columns each down a different road
leading into the city.

Advancing from the north-west was the 2.
S8-Panzergrenadier-Regiment (SS-Stan-
dartenfiihrer Georg Wisch) which had split
up in two columns, one on either side of the
Belgorod-Kharkoy railway that runs into the
city from the north. Right of the railway, the
I1. Bataillon (SS-Sturmbannfithrer Rudolf
Sandig) attacked down the road from Der-
gatchi and at 0530 penetrated the north-
western city district of Severnyi Post. Here
its right wing met heavy resistance from
enemy entrenched on  higher ground.
Sandig’s battalion fought itself forward from
strong point to strong point, but by the end
of the day it had only got as far as the
Severnyi railway vard.

On the other side of the railway, the L.
Bataillon (SS-Sturmbannfiihrer Hugo Kraas)
at 0310 stormed the northern suburb of
Alexeyevka. The attack failed, a Russian
counler-attack with T-34 tanks even throw-
ing onc company back out of the city. In the
early afternoon, after a Stuka attack on the
enemy positions and additional shelling by
the four StuGs supporting the battalion. the
infantry slowly battled its way back in against
fierce opposition. A T-34 knocked out one of
the StuGs and a concealed anti-tank gun a
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March 11, and Kampfgruppe Witt has started the assault on
Kharkov down the Belgorod road (see the town plan on pages
22-23). For most of the day, the advance down this axis was
held up by road-blocks and fierce Russian resistance on the
outskirts of the city. The armour supporting Kampfgruppe Witt
— Il. Bataillon of Panzer-Regiment 1 — spent long hours wait-
ing for the road-blocks to be cleared. The commander of Panzer
11l ‘655" and Panzer Il ‘558’ scout the horizon with their binocu-

lars, while a crew member of ‘559’ in between takes time off to
read a newspaper. Note the different styles of painting the
tank numbers: whereas the light Panzer lls have repainted
theirs in red on the snow-camouflage white coating, the Pan-
zer lll has kept the white lettering on a dark background. This
picture was taken by the other Kriegsberichter assigned to the
‘Leibstandarte’, Cantzler, at a spot just a few yards back from
the previous photograph. (BA)

New apartment buildings have sprung up on the horizon, but this is the same spot on the Belgorod-Kharkov road.

21



o

- e

A couple of hundred yards closer to Kharkov, men of S5-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 1
and SS-Pionier-Abteilung 1 labour to clear the obstacles blocking the road. A PaK 40
anti-tank gun stands ready to defend against a possible Russian counter-attack.

Another picture by King. (NIOD)

The prominent buildings on the |
lay of the land has remained the same.

supporting 37mm flak wagon. Finally. a small
group of panzergrenadiers outflanked the
Russian forward positions from the west and
attacked them from the rear, thus gaining a
first foothold in the built-up area.

The division’s main effort was from the
north down the main road from Belgorod,
Attacking here were SS-Panzergrenadier-
Regiment 1 (SS-Standartenfiihrer Fritz Witt)
backed up by tanks of II. Abteilung (SS-
Sturmbannfithrer Martin Gross) of SS-Pan-
z=r-Reziment 1. Before reaching the city lim-
#s they had to answer a Russian
attack across the wide open space of
rxov airfield on their left. Entering

J750. and knocking out several
afternoon Kampferuppe Witt
way into the northern suburbs.
“2r left flank, coming in from the
>wm the road from Zirkuny, was

eft have made way for new housing blocks, but the

Kampfgruppe Meyer, consisting of the Auf-
klirungs-Abteilung (the divisional reconnais-
sance unit) under SS-Sturmbannfiihrer Kurt
Meyer and I Abteilung (SS-Sturmbann-
fithrer Max Wiinsche) of SS-Panzer-Regi-
ment 1 plus two SP guns of SS-Panzerjiger-
Ableilung 1. Tts specific task was to seize the
city’s easlern exit road to Rogan and
Chuguyev. Shortly after moving out, the
force’s lead panzer was knocked out as was
Meyer’s command half-track. Two T-34s
were accidentally knocked out by their own
troops. Gaining speed, the Kampfgruppe
pushed deep into Kharkov, reaching the
cemetery along the main road in the city dis-
trict of Imeni Kirova. Here, with the armour
running low on fuel, the force entrenched in a
perimeter position, defending itself against
numerous attacks by Russian troops trying to
force their way out to the cast.

German wartime plan of Kharkov show-
ing the advance of the various ‘Leibstan-
darte’ spearheads into the city. The divi-
sion attacked from the north and
north-west with its two infantry regi-
ments divided into various kampfgrup-
pen, each one supported by a few tanks,
assault guns and self-propelled anti-tank
guns, with support from artillery, Nebel-
werfer mortars and Stuka dive-bombers
on call. The deepest penetration on the
first day was made by Kampfgruppe
Mevyer, the divisional Aufklarungs-

Abteilung (AA on the plan), which how-
ever put it in a completely encircled and
isolated position in the eastern part of
the city from which it could only be
relieved on the third day of the battle.
We have added the names of the various
Kampfgruppe commanders.




The advance into Kharkov gets under way. (BA)




Meanwhile, SS-Panzergrenadier-Division ‘Das Reich’ attacked

Kharkov from the west, This series of pictures — included in
every publication on the battle of Kharkov — was one that we
very much wanted to find. The visibility of the Gosprom com-
plex on the horizon gave a clue that it was somewhere in the
western or south-western outskirts of Kharkov, but we still
spent hours driving up and down pot-holed streets and lanes in
our hired taxi before we finally found it in Gievskaya Ulitsa

S

This Panzer IV belongs to 5. Kompanie of SS-Panzer-Regiment
2 ‘Das Reich”. (BA) Below: Today traffic from Kiev enters
Kharkov via a new road, and Gievskaya is a quiet backstreet.




Another Panzer |V with mounted panzer-
grenadiers descends down the same
lane. Kampfgruppe Harmel was made up
of the following units of ‘Das Reich’: SS-
Panzergrenadier-Regiment ‘Deutschland”
(minus its Il. Bataillon), lll. (gep.) Batail-
lon of SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment
‘Der Fiihrer’, S5-Pionier-Bataillon 2, SS-
Artillerie-Regiment 2 [minus one bat-
tery), $S-Flak-Abteilung 2, one battery of
SS-Sturmgeschiitz-Abteilung 2, and
what few tanks remained of SS-Panzer-
Regiment 2. To increase his tank
strength, Harmel was also given 1. Kom-
panie of the Panzer Abteilung of the SS-
Division ‘Totenkopf’. Three Kriegs-
berichter accompanied the force —
Friedrich Zschakel, Paul Neumann, and
PK Schaer — and all three took pictures
in this lane. This one is by Neumann.

Meanwhile, over on the west side of
Kharkov, ‘Das Reich’ (SS-Oberfiihrer Her-
bert Ernst Vahl) had joined the attack. At
0800, its reinforced SS-Panzergrenadier-Regi-
ment ‘Deutschland’ (SS-Obersturmbann-
fithrer Heinz Harmel) started out from Sino-
lisovska down the Poltava road. Meeting
fierce resistance, by 1600 Kampfgruppe
Harmel had reached the suburb of Zalyutino,
where it was halted by a deep anti-tank ditch
covered by anti-tank guns, artillery and troops
entrenched in houses on the far side. A Russ-
ian counter-attack from Rychoff railway
station was repulsed in bloody fighting. Fur-
ther south, in a supporting attack, reinforced
SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment ‘Der Fiihrer’
(SS-Obersturmbannfihrer Otto Kumm)
fought its way south of the city and cut the
Merefa road.

However, at 1505, an order from 4. Pan-
zer-Armee arrived which initiated a sharp
controversy between the army commander
and the commander of the SS-Panzerkorps.
Hoth ordered Hausser to immediately break
off the attack from the west, have ‘Das
Reich’ leave only a security screen there, and
to move the division round the north to east
of the city — as intended in the original plan
— in order to cut the Soviet escape route to
Chuguyvev.

Hausser was unwilling to concur: ‘Das
Reich’ was now fully engaged and he judged
the risk of pulling out under combat con-
ditions too great. Furthermore, he argued
that, with the worsening road conditions and
the large woods north of Kharkov, moving
the division round the north would take
more time than if the division continued in
the corps effort to open a road straight
through the city. At 2100 that evening he
informed Hoth of his opinions, telling him
that he intended to continue his assault on
the city with the same two divisions; instead

A Panzer lll of ‘Das Reich’ (note the divisional emblem) in the
same lane, pictured by Schaer. Earlier publications have iden-

of moving ‘Das Reich’ to east of Kharkov, he
would instruct *“Totenkopf’ to send a force
thereto.

Thus ‘Das Reich’ continued its attack on
the city. During the night of March 11/12, a
pioneer assault group of Kampfgruppe
Harmel sneaked across the anti-tank ditch
and broke into the houses on the other side,
surprising the Red Army defenders. By 0440,
all Russian anti-tank guns had been captured
and a bridgehead won, enabling armour to
cross the ditch. By 0525, the Kampfgruppe
was rolling towards the city centre. Shortly
before noon, its lead troops were approach-
ing the Kharkov main railway station.

This was as far as ‘Das Reich” would get.

AL 0115 that night Hoth had sent Hausser a
repeat of his carlier order to move ‘Das
Reich’ round to the east. Hausser’s reply —
not sent until 1135 — only elaborated on his
carlier arguments for not carrying out the
ordered move. At 1150, exasperated with his
subordinate’s pig-headedness, Hoth radioed
Hausser a very sharp order to immediately
comply with his instructions and send ‘Das
Reich’ round the north. This time, Hausser
obeyed. That evening, having made contact
with the ‘Leibstandarte’ in north-western
Kharkov, ‘Das Reich’ arranged to pass
through that division’s sector inside the city,
giving it not only a short cut to the east but
also better-surfaced roads for its columns.

tified these images as showing the ‘Leibstandarte’, but this shot
and our establishment of the location prove otherwise. (NIOD)
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Left: At the bottom of the slope, Kampfgruppe Harmel reached SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment ‘Deutschland’ has set up its ¢
the deep cutting of the railway yard just north of Kharkov main  MG42 on the edge of the cutting. Picture by Neumann, (BA)
station. Here a machine-gun team of 16, Pionier-Kompanie of Right: The view across the Kharkov shunting yard today.

Left: With their advance halted by a direct order from 4. Panzer- cleared by the ‘Leibstandarte’. PK Neumann pictured men and
Armee shortly after noon on the 12th, Kampfgruppe Harmel armour of the Kampfgruppe crossing the Lopan river via the
broke off the fight. Next morning, ordered to move to north-  bridge on Pistinsky Street. (BA) Right: The damage to the
east of Kharkov, they passed through the sector already  bridge has been repaired.
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L=T Zschakel photographed panzergrenadiers crossing the fight: Tram lines still cross the river via this bridge today.
same bridge. The Gosprom looms high on the horizon. (NIOD} Unfortunately, the trees hide most of the Gosprom.
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The Russian defenders had built road barricades at nearly every
intersection in Kharkov centre. This one blocked Sumy Street,
the main road into town from Belgorod, and the major axis of
attack for Kampfgruppe Witt. Two Soviet tanks were knocked

The ‘Leibstandarte” meanwhile had made
good progress on the 12th. At mid-morning,
Kampferuppe Sandig on the right finally
broke through the field fortifications on the
north-western outskirts and, advaneing
against snipers and trajectory [ire, reached
the northern end of the Kharkov main rail-
way station yard at 1015. Just before night-
fall, Sandig’s battalion captured the railway
station itself (where it linked up with Kampf-
gruppe Harmel of ‘Das Reich’).

Sandig’s left-hand neighbour, Kampf-
gruppe Kraas, renewed its assault on Alex-
cyevka. Aflter hammering the enemy with
artillery and Nebelwerfer rockets. the pan-
zergrenadiers penetrated the city proper in
pursuit of the retreating Red Army troops.
In bloody close-quarter fighting in the urban
districts of Lisaya Gora and Pavlovka, sev-
eral Russian battalions were ripped apart,
and 155 prisoners taken. By the end of the
day, the two Kampfgruppen of 55-Panzer-
erenadier-Regiment 2 occupied a defensive
Ine along Katerinolavska Street.

SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 1 overcame
the resistance in the northern suburbs. In
company groups, each one supported by a
few panzers, its I. Bataillon (SS-Sturmbann-

wm Y

HhEa -, =

Two streets further north, another barricade blocked off
Chernischevski Street, a side street of Sumy.

fithrer Albert Frey) and III. Bataillon (SS-
Sturmbannfithrer’ Wilhelm Weidenhaupt)
fought their way forward from one apart-

out in the fighting which reached this point on the second day,
March 12. The Russians used large numbers of T-34s in the
street battle — the ‘Leibstandarte’ alone reported 19 knocked
out on the first day. Picture by Kriegsberichter Panzner. (NIOD)

The barricade stood just half a mile north of where Sumy Street reaches Dzerzhinsky
Square. Because of the trees we have taken our comparison from the pavement.

ment complex to the next. As darkness fell.
they had reached a line just two streets north
of Dzerzhinsky Square.

The crossroads of Chernischevski and Sumy Streets now.
Kharkov centre is to the left and Belgorod to the right.



Early on the second day, Kampfgruppe Hansen of the ‘Leib-
standarte’ reached Pravdy Prospekt, the wide avenue circling
round the rear of the Gosprom complex. From here Hansen
launched the attack on Dzerzhinsky Square, sending one force

SS-Kriegsbherichter King followed the northern pincer of

Kampfgruppe Hansen as it attacked up Pravdy Prospekt
toward Sumy Street on the morning of March 12, producing
some of the best combat images of the battle for the city. Here,
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round the south (towards the camera) and another round the
north. Here a Marder lll 7,5¢m self-propelled gun of SS-Panzer-
jager-Abteilung 1 stands guard on Pravdy Prospekt (Avenue of
the Truth) in the shadow of the Gosprom. (BA)

two Panzer |Vs and one Marder stand three abreast firing away
at buildings in which the Russian defenders have entrenched
themselves. The time is about 1100, as can be deduced from
the shadows. (BA)

Meanwhile, on the regiment’s right wing,
the II. Bataillon (SS-Sturmbannfiihrer Max
Hansen). with support from 7. Kompanie of
SS-Panzer-Regiment 1, had sneaked through
the Russian hines and reached the western
end ol the Dzerzhinsky Square, where
snipers [iring from the high buildings of the
Gosprom complex caused casualties. For the
assault on the square itself, Hansen called
forward the panzers and contacted Frey’s I.
Bataillon on his left. Splitting his force,
Hansen sent one half round the right.
through the big city park and Zoo to the
Shevchenko Memornal on Sumy Street. and
the other half round the left, down the broad
avenue which lines the northern side of the
square, also toward Sumy Street. Slowly
Kampfgruppe Hansen battled its way for-
ward, enveloping the square. By evening he
had reached the eastern end, linking up with
the rest of Kampfgruppe Witt on Sumy
Street. The heavily-contested square, symbol
of Kharkov for both sides, was renamed
‘Platz der Leibstandarte’.

A sunny Sunday morning 57 years later.




Panzergrenadiers of Hansen's battalion take cover in the of our visit to Kharkov. It was only when Karel spotted the two
shadow of the next building. This spectacular series of pictures  ‘blind windows’ in this shot (frem the rear seat of a driving taxi)
— often published, but never properly identified as to where in  that everything fell in place. In the one hour left to us before
the city it was taken — eluded finding until the very last morning  departure to the airport we matched the whole series. (BA)
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Left: Moving forward beside a half-track, King photographed exceptional. This is the sharp end, where bullets are really fly-
the point men crouching behind trees and bushes. PK photo- ing. (BA) Right: No bullets, only the sound of birds singing in
the small park at the intersection of Pravdy Prospekt and

graphers were renowned for their front-line coverage, but even
among their ranks operating so close to the forward line was  Trinkler Street (see the plan below).

'GOSPROM
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The low building across the street has made way for a modern
replacement.

Having reached the cover of the building seen in the previous
shot, King turned around to picture the panzers moving up. (BA)
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Sloshing through mud and melting snow, the Kampfgruppe
approaches the junction with Sumy Street. The tanks supporting
Hansen's infantry were those of 7. Kompanie of SS-Panzer-Regi-

ment 1, as can be seen from Panzer IV ‘704’. The commander of
this company was $S-Obersturmfiihrer Rudolf von Ribbentrop,
son of Nazi foreign minister Joachim von Ribbentrop. (BA)

Incredibly, in the very heart of Kharkov, the old courtyard gate on the left remains exactly as in 1943.
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Panzer ‘728’ rattles forward. In the background, behind the
building in the park, lies Dzerzhinsky Square. Kampfgruppe
Hansen's advance enveloped the square from two sides. (NIOD)
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Below: No melting snow or debris on Pravdy Prospekt today.
Our comparison was taken from closer in to give a better view
of the palace under the trees.
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Left: Retracing his steps, King bumped into $S-Sturmbann-
fithrer Max Hansen, the Kampfgruppe commander (and the
commander of Il. Bataillon of SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 1),
directing the fighting from close behind. In this shot he is talk-
.ing to SS-Unterscharfiihrer Paul Klose, one of his infantry sec-
tion commanders. Hansen, wounded in the face later in the

Left: Members of Hansen’s Kampfgruppe command group aim-
ing their rifles at what appears to be aircraft flying overhead.

Meanwhile, at 1030, SS-Panzergrenadier-
Regiment 2 had launched its III. (gep.)
Bataillon, the regiment’s armoured infantry
battalion under SS-Sturmbannfithrer Jochen
Peiper. Rolling into town in its half-tracks.
Peiper linked up with Hansen on Dzerzhin-
sky Square and then carried on south-cast-
ward another mile and a half where he
snatched an intact bridge across the Kharkov
river leading into Moscow Avenue.

The division’s left-wing force, Kampf-
gruppe Meyer, had meanwhile pushed for-
ward and reached the all-important junction
of the Volchansk and Chuguyev exit roads in
the castern part of Kharkov. The force occu-
pied a hedgehog position around the junc-

battle (his fourth wound), would be awarded the Knight's
Cross for his actions at Kharkov. (BA)} Right: A comparison
which appeared impossible beforehand. The prize for having
spotted it goes to Martin Bogaert, Karel's Belgian companion
and interpreter on the Kharkov trip. This is in fact the corner of
the building visible in the picture at the top of page 32.

]

The man on the right has a telescopic rifle. (BA) Right: Martin
enjoys standing in for the rifleman.

tion, desperately fighting off ficrce Russian
counter-attacks all day long, out of physical
contact with the rest of the division, except
for a patrol of three half-tracks from Kampf-
gruppe Peiper which established a short con-
tact in the afternoon.

Below left: Red Army prisoners assembled on Dzerzhinsky Square, pictured by
Kriegsberichter Ludwig. (BA) Below right: The building across the street has dis-
appeared, but the Gosprom serves to align the comparison.
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Kampfgruppe Hansen has linked up with
the rest of Kampfgruppe Witt on Sumy
Street. It is now March 13, the third day
of the battle. This can be deduced from
the fact that this picture was taken
by SS-Kriegsherichter Neumann, who
reached this point with Kampfgruppe
Harmel of ‘Das Reich’ as it traversed the
city on its way out to the north-east on
the morning of the 13th. Panzer ‘731" and
another panzer of 7. Kompanie wait to
resume the advance through the maze of
streets that lie east of Dzerzhinsky
Square with Kampfgruppe Witt's III.
Bataillon. (BA)

Next day, March 13, the battle continued.
From its position around Dzerzhinsky
Sguare, Kampferuppe Witt pushed toward
the line of the Kharkov river, Weidenhaupt's
ITI. Bataillon going due east, and Hansen’s
I1. Bataillon fighting south toward Peiper’s
bridgehead. The going was slow. Every-
where, the Russians resisted fiercely with
machine guns and anti-tank guns. and each
block of buildings had to be cleaned out sep-
arately. Russian tanks lured in side streets
and courtyards. Russian artillery held the
bridges across the Kharkov under constant
shelling.

Meanwhile, Frey's I. Bataillon of SS-Pan-
zergrenadier-Regiment 1 had moved out
from the area of Kharkov aerodrome,
crossed the Kharkov river just north of the
city. and begun (o push back into the city
down the Volchansk road in an attempt to
trap the Red Army units fighting in the city
centre.

In the southern half of town. in the sector
of SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 2, the
struggle was equally bitter. By 1230, Peiper’s
11. Bataillon had enlarged its bridgehcad
sufficiently for a break-out along Moscow
Avenue. Half an hour later, his armoured
infantry column linked up with Kampf-
zruppe Meyer at the Volchansk/Chuguyev
road junction, relieving this [orce from its
precarious situation. At 1530, Kraas® 1.
Bataillon, using Peiper’s bridgehead,
attacked southward across Michailovsk
Street. On its right, Sandig’s II. Bataillon was
fighting to gain its own crossing at Torgovchi
Street.

By now, the main force of ‘Das Reich’ had
vacated the city. At 0745 that morning. hav-
ing arranged a route through the ‘Leibstan-
darte’’s sector, Kampfgruppe Harmel began
moving via Dzerzhinsky Square and the city
districts of Litvinovska and Danilovka to a

Looking north on Sumy Street, at the intersection with Girshman Street (see the plan
on page 32).

position north-east of Kharkov. By late after-
noon it was engaged in fighting outside the
city. attacking southward alongside Kampf-
gruppe Baum of SS-Division ‘Totenkop!”
toward the Kharkov-Chuguyev road. The

L= Almost at the same spot but looking the other way. Activ-
ity in the city park across the street causes a Panzer IV to aim
its gun in that direction while a panzergrenadier watches
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only ‘Das Reich’ unit now remaining inside
Kharkov was II. Bataillon (SS-Sturmbann-
fiihrer Bissinger) of SS-Panzergrenadier-
Regiment ‘Deutschland’, which had the task
of clearing the south-western part of the city.

The few Russian troops remaining in this iso-
lated corner offered little resistance and
were quickly mopped up. By the evening of
March 13, two-thirds of Kharkov was in
German hands.

through his binoculars. (BA) Right: The neo-classical building
across the street, hidden by the trees in this comparison, is the
Lysenko Academic Opera and Ballet Theatre.




Standartenfithrer Fritz Witt, the commander of SS-Panzer- under cover of an SdKfz 251, Picture by Zschéakel who, like Neu-
grenadier-Regiment 1, passes the Girshman Street intersection  mann, reached this point with Kampfgruppe Harmel. (BA)

Meeting of smiling commanders in the
heart of Kharkov. Witt [in riding
breaches) with SS-Sturmbannfiihrer
Jochen Peiper {left), commander of the
lll. (gep.) Bataillon of SS-Panzer-
grenadier-Regiment 2, and 5$5-Sturm-
bannfithrer Heinz von Westernhagen
(behind), commander of the ‘Leibstan-
darte”s Sturmgeschiitz-Abteilung. (BA}

Two SdKfz 251 Schiitzenpanzerwagen (SPW, armoured personnel carriers) stand
nearby. Emii, with the tubular radio antennae frame, is Peiper’s Befehlswagen (com-
mand vehicle). An SS panzergrenadier division had only one of its six infantry bat-
talions mounted in half-tracks, the rest being lorry-borne or moving on foot. This was
used as a fast mobile striking unit. On February 13-14, during the second battle for
Kharkov, Peiper’s battalion had carried out a daring rescue operation into the sector
of the 320. Infanterie-Division, bringing out 1,500 wounded men. As for this picture, it
appears that all the photographers covering the battle congregated on Sumy Street
that morning, for it was taken by yet another SS-Kriegsberichter, Willi Merz. (BA)




Above: A cine cameraman films Panzers ‘713" and ‘731’ of von
Ribbentrop’s 7. Kompanie as they venture into Girshman Street.
Note the dead Russian in the doorway across the street. A
glimpse of the ferocity of the fighting in Kharkov emerges from

letters written by Sturmbannfithrer von Westernhagen, com-
mander of the StuG-Abteilung, to his family back in Germany:
‘Nobody will forget the street-fighting in Kharkov. We drove to

within 30 metres of fortified houses and fired into them with
assault guns. The comrades then worked us over from the upper
floors with explosive charges, and when the brick dust and
smoke from the explosions lifted the scoundrels fired at us
again. From 100-metre range we fired artillery into them and at
places we beat the brothers to death with Cossack sabres.” (BA)
Below: Martin Bogaert stands in for the cameraman.




After taking the previous shot, and with his own ‘Das Reich’ col-
umn having moved on, Zschdkel climbed aboard a panzer and
joined a ‘Leibstandarte’ column that had orders to proceed south

With ‘Totenkopf” and most of ‘Das Reich’
now fighting north-east of Kharkov, the task
of capturing the remainder of the city fell
solely on the ‘Leibstandarte’. On March 14,
the division pushed cast on a broad front,
with Witt’s SS-Panzergrenadier-Regiment 1
clearing the area north of the Chuguyev
road, Wisch’s 8S-Panzergrenadier-Regiment
2 the arca south of the road and Meyer’s
Aufklarungs-Abteilung pushing down the
road itself. Throughout the day furious street
fighting and house-to-house combat raged,
but by late afternoon the last residential
areas had been cleared. On the eastern edge
of the city, Peiper’s battalion now stood just
west of the Kharkov agricultural experimen-
tal establishment, and Mever’s reconnais-
sance unit was approaching the Kharkov
tractor works. All of Kharkov city was now
in German hands.

That afternoon, in a special bulletin, the
German radio broadcast the news that
‘Waffen-SS units, with powerful Luftwaffe
support, after days of bitter struggle and in a
pincer attack from north and east had recon-
quered Kharkov'.

However, the battle was not quite over.
On March 15, the ‘Leibstandarte’ cleared the
last enemy pockets in the factory district to
the south-east. That same day, Kamp{gruppe
Kumm of ‘Das Reich’ assaulted the Kharkov
tractor works from the south — the huge fac-
tory complex would not be finally cleared
until the following morning. A few miles fur-
ther east, Kampfgruppe Harmel awaited the
link-up with units of XXXXVIIL Panzer-
korps which were sweeping round Kharkov
from the south. And S§S-Division ‘Totenkop!”
took Chuguyev. finally closing the ring
around Kharkov and cutting 3rd Tank
Army’s escape route across the Donetz.

However, a considerable number of Russ-

ian forces had by then managed to escape
encirclement at Kharkov. In the lightning
campaign south of Kharkov Hausser’s SS-
Panzerkorps had stopped the Soviet offen-
sive spearheads and destroyed two and a half
Soviet armies — a miracle achievement
indeed — but his subsequent frontal attack
on Kharkov itself had merely pushed the

down Sumy Street to 'Peiper’s Bridge’ on Moscow Avenue to
reinforce the infantry fighting there. Visible in this picture are a
Panzer IV, a Marder, and several SPW half-tracks. (NIOD)

Red Army units back, allowing them a with-
drawal out of the city eastward. The Russians
fought tenaciously to keep the escape route
open, repeatedly counter-attacking ‘Das
Reich’ and “Totenkop!f” with tanks. The latter
two divisions — immobilised for much of the
14th for lack of fuel — had been slow in
closing the trap east of the city.
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While Karel was taking this comparison, a police car stopped right behind him. The
policemen inside were however so taken aback by this unusual sight of a foreigner
taking pictures in the middle of the road that they fell silent and drove on perplexed.
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Left: With Kharkov again in German hands, the Germans renamed Dzerzhinsky Square.

Previously they had colloquially referred to it as the ‘Roter Platz’ after Moscow's Red
Square, but now they baptised it ‘Platz der Leibstandarte’ in honour of the division that
had borne the brunt of the fighting. Division photographer King pictured the huge sign
hung above the Gosprom entrance to the square. (NIOD) Right: Careful comparison
shows that this is the northern one of the two identical passage-ways. Below left: Signs
were put up at every entrance to the square, like here on Sumy Street. (NIOD)

After Kharkov fell, the resistance west of
the Donetz collapsed. On the morning of
March 18. the SS-Panzerkorps attacked
along the railway running north out of
Kharkov. covered the 30 miles to Belgorod
and wrestled the city from Kazakov's 69th
Army in four hours. Voronezh Front with-
drew behind hastily-built defences on the
east bank. The Soviet winter offensive was
over. Manstein’s brilliant counter-offensive
had closed the 110-mile gap in the front.
mauled the Russian armies and regained the

Donetz-Mius river line. Kharkov was again
in German hands.

The recapture of Kharkov was celebrated
by the Germans as a major victory. The
battle fought by the SS-Panzerkorps received
huge publicity in the German press and
newsreels. A spate of decorations was
handed out to the men of the SS divisions.
However, few failed to note that Hausser,
the corps commander, was left out — Hitler
had not forgotten his act of disobedience
during the earlier battle for the city.

Lying six miles east of Kharkov proper, along the road to Chuguyev near Losovo, the
Kharkov tractor works was not cleared by Kampfgruppen Kumm and Meyer until
March 16. Even though the Russians had evacuated most of the factory’s equipment
to behind the Ural in 1941, it was still used as a tank repair workshop by both sides.

The Germans found numerous abandoned T-34s when they recaptured the site. (BA)




